

University of Central Florida
STARS

Electronic Theses and Dissertations, 2004-2019

2012

Exploring Theology And Practice In Islamic Parenting

Mergin Akin University of Central Florida

Part of the Sociology Commons Find similar works at: https://stars.library.ucf.edu/etd University of Central Florida Libraries http://library.ucf.edu

This Masters Thesis (Open Access) is brought to you for free and open access by STARS. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Theses and Dissertations, 2004-2019 by an authorized administrator of STARS. For more information, please contact STARS@ucf.edu.

STARS Citation

Akin, Mergin, "Exploring Theology And Practice In Islamic Parenting" (2012). *Electronic Theses and Dissertations, 2004-2019.* 2268. https://stars.library.ucf.edu/etd/2268



EXPLORING THEOLOGY AND PRACTICE IN ISLAMIC PARENTING

by

MERGIN AKIN BA. Istanbul University, 1997 MS. Istanbul University, 1999

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Arts in the Department of Sociology in the College of Sciences at the University of Central Florida Orlando, Florida

> Fall Term 2012

©2012 Mergin Akin

ABSTRACT

The purpose of this study is to explore Muslims' parenting styles and determine how factors such as religion, education, income, physical and verbal punishment experienced as a child, and the perception of Islamic childrearing influence their parenting styles. The research focuses on the main tenets of parenting in the Islamic tradition such as fatherhood, motherhood, children's and parent's rights and responsibilities, discipline methods, and physical punishment. The study also informs the role of marriage in Islam and the adopted concepts and theories of Western sociological literature. Findings show that authoritative parenting was the most predominant parenting style among study participants. The study also revealed that those who frequently read the Qur'an tended to be less authoritarian. Parents that experienced physical punishment as a child and who think Islam allows spanking were more likely to sponsor an authoritarian parenting style. The study findings provide insights into the complex roles of religion and parenting in Muslim groups. I dedicated this thesis to:

My parents, and My husband, Yalcin Akin, and my son, Mehmet Ali Akin, and My daughter, Kayra Nihal Akin, in appreciation of their endless support, guidance, patience and belief in me.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to take this opportunity to thank first and foremost my advisor, Dr. Fernando Rivera, for his support, guidance and enthusiasm, and I feel very fortunate to have met and worked with him. I sincerely thank my committee members, Dr. Elizabeth Grauerholz, and Dr. David Gay, for their support, comments, suggestions and time. I would also like to thank Dr. Jana Jasinski for her help on acceptance of me as a graduate student to the department.

I would like to thank again my husband, my son, my daughter, my parents, my sister, and my friend, Dr. Eren Tatari for their motivation, encouragement, support and love.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES	viii
1. INTRODUCTION	1
2. THEORY: PARENTING IN ISLAMIC THEOLOGY	3
2.1 The Definition of Human Being and the Purpose of Creation in Islam	3
2.2 Meaning and Role of Marriage in Islam	4
 2.3 Parent-Child Relationship in Islam 2.3.1 Children's Rights and Parents' Responsibilities 2.3.2 Parent's Rights and Children's Responsibilities 	6 6 8
2.4 Motherhood in Islam	9
2.5 Fatherhood in Islam2.5.1 Ultimate Role Model: Prophet Muhammad as a Father	11 12
2.6 The Concept of Parental Discipline in Islam	14
3. PRACTICE: PARENTING IN PREDOMINATLY MUSLIM COUNTRIES	18
3.1 Parenting Styles	18
3.2 Parental Discipline	20
3.3 Physical Punishment/Dehumanization	22
4. DATA AND METHOD	25
4.1 Hypotheses	25
4.2 Dependent Variable	27
4.3 Independent Variables	29
4.4 Control Variables	31
5. ANALYSIS AND RESULTS	33

5.1 Descriptive Results	33
5.2 Multivariate Results	37
6. CONCLUSION AND DISCUSSION	46
PENDIX A: DEPENDENT VARIABLE	52
APPENDIX B: FREQUENCIES OF DEPENDENT VARIABLES	54
APPENDIX C: SURVEY QUESTIONNAIRE	61
APPENDIX D: IRB APPROVAL LETTER	67
REFERENCES	69

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Descriptive Statistics for all Independent and Dependent Variables	34
Table 2: Descriptive Values for Parents who Participated in the Survey	36
Table 3: Summary of Regression Analyses for Independent Variables Predicting Parenting Style	
Table 4: Summary of Regression Analyses for Independent variables predicting parenting style	
Table 5: Summary of regression analyses for independent and control variables predicting parenting styles	

1. INTRODUCTION

Past research has consistently demonstrated that parental behaviors affect children's development. The fundamentals of parenting styles were established by Baumrind (1966), Maccobs and Martin (1983), and Lamborn (1991). Baumrind (1966, 1968, 1971) conceptualized the term "parenting style," defined as parents' typical behaviors and characteristics applied to a wide range of situations during interactions with their children. Parenting styles fall under three categories: permissive, authoritarian and authoritative. Permissive parents usually give their children excessive freedom and little discipline; their expectations of their children are generally low. They fulfill their children's wishes without refrain (Dwairy 2008; Onder and Gulay 2008; Brown and Iyengar 2008). Authoritarian parents discipline their children's behavior with strict rules. Authoritative parents have close and strong relationships with their children, and support their families with verbal and physical expression. According to Kircali (2004), Simons and Conger (2007), and Yaman et al. (2010), the most acceptable parenting style in the world is authoritative. Although studies show authoritative parenting styles are seen in both, Western and non-Western Muslim countries, a predominant parenting style has not been established among Muslims. The varying parenting styles might be influence by culture, religion, tradition, education and socioeconomic status.

Islamic parenting is a holistic paradigm, one that is based on the rights and responsibilities of both parents and children. Parenting in Islam is viewed as a divinely mandated

responsibility. Parents are held accountable to God and to their children for fulfilling their roles as guardians. Islam regulates parent-child relationship within a framework of checks and balances. Parents and children have responsibilities and rights over each other. Although this system of rights does not allow physical punishment, studies show that Muslim parents use physically punishment as a disciplinary method (Dwairy 2006; Erkman and Rohner 2006; Orhan et al. 2006). Thus, Islamic theology and practice contradict each other in terms of childrearing. This issue creates societal problems because many children are victims of mistreatment by their parents (Dwairy 20010; Erozkan 2009; Turkel and Tezer 2008).

The purpose of this study is to explore Muslims' parenting styles. Particularly, the impact of religion, education, income, physical and verbal punishment experienced as a child, and perception of Islamic childrearing on parenting styles. The research focuses on the main tenets of parenting in the Islamic tradition such as fatherhood, motherhood, children's and parents' rights and responsibilities, discipline methods, and physical punishment. The study also informs the role of marriage in Islam and the adopted concepts and theories of Western sociological literature.

2. THEORY: PARENTING IN ISLAMIC THEOLOGY

2.1 The Definition of Human Being and the Purpose of Creation in Islam

The word Islam is derived from the Arabic term "*salema*", meaning peace, purity, submission and obedience. The book of Islam is the Qur'an and the prophet is Muhammad. According to Islam, the universe was created by God, and human beings are the most honorable creatures of all living deputies (Gulen, 2006; Unal, 2006, Celik, 2011).

Islam regulates not only the relationship between God (The Creator) and his creations, but also a Muslim's responsibilities in society, including marriage and parent-child relationships. It is a religion based on love: love to God, love for God, and love due to God. In other words, Muslims should love God, love all creations for the sake of God, and love all creations because God created them. In Islam, the ultimate goal is to love God and to earn the love of God through kindness to all human beings and creations. The Qur'an emphasizes mercy, forgiveness, sacrifice, respect, and responsibility to fulfill these goals.

There are two major resources that are used in understanding and practicing Islam: The Qur'an (the Holy Book) and the Sunnah, which is a collection of actions and sayings of Muhammad (Hadith). Muslim scholars narrate and interpret the information in these sources to help people understand the meaning and context of the Islamic rules, regulations, and orders of God.

2.2 Meaning and Role of Marriage in Islam

According to Islam, solitude is a state specific to God, and human beings are created as

couples by God, with numerous Qur'anic verses stating this.

"O humanity; fear your God, Who created you from a single soul, and from it created its spouse, and from the two of them did spread forth a multitude of men and women" (Qur'an 4:1).

"We created you from a single pair of male and female" (Qur'an 49:13).

Marriage is incumbent upon every Muslim, man or woman, who is physically and

financially able to pursue conjugal life. Marriage is strongly recommended for the faithful both

in the Qur'an and the Sunnah.

"And among God's signs is this: that He created for you spouses from among yourselves, so that you might find rest in them; and He has set between you love and compassion. Truly there are signs in this for people who reflect" (Qur'an 30:21).

"Our Lord, grant us the delight of our eyes from our wives and our offspring" (Qur'an 25:74).

"He is the One who created you from a single soul, and from that created a spouse, that they might find comfort in one another" (Qur'an 7:189).

"They [your spouses] are your garments and you are their garments..." (Qur'an 2:187).

"And marry those among you who are single... if they are needy, God will make them free from want out of His grace" (Qur'an 24:32).

"The believing men and women are protectors of one another..." (Qur'an 9:71)

"Marriage is my recommended custom. Whosoever turns away from my recommended custom is turning away from me" (Hadith).

"Get married so you multiply. I shall indeed be proud of your multitude on the Day of Ressurrection." (Hadith).

"O you young people, men and women! Whosoever can bear the burden of marriage let him or her get married. Marriage is indeed contentment to the eye and a protection to the modest parts. One who marries for the sake of God, or gives in marriage for the sake of God, earns the right to God's friendship" (Hadith). The first important role of marriage in Islam is procreation. In fact, procreative functions are sanctified and orderly by the institution of marriage. Having children requires the following: the realization of God's desire, the fulfillment of the Prophet's call to marry and increase his followers' numbers, and the addition of the fruit of a child's prayer. "When the son of Adam dies, nothing would be of any more benefit to him except three things: a continuous charity, some useful knowledge he has left behind and a child who may pray for him" (Hadith). Muslims believe that when they die and leave children on Earth, dead parents benefit from their children's good deeds. However, if children die before their parents, the dead children ask forgiveness from God for their parents (Jawad, 1998).

The second role is fulfilling sexual desire. According to Islam, marriage is the only way to have sexual intercourse. Its function prevents adultery and fornication, which are forbidden in Islam (Jawad, 1998). "O you young people! Whoever of you can afford to get married, let him do so. Those who cannot afford it, let them practice fasting, as it may be a protection to them [against sin]" (Hadith).

The third role is aid to religion. Marriage helps the mind's ability to concentrate during prayers and worship. For that reason, Muhammad said as the first step in choosing a partner when an individual wants to get married "A women may be chosen for her wealth, or for her beauty, or for her nobility or for her religion. So choose a religious women and hold fast to her..." (Hadith). This particular Hadith shows the importance of marriage for religion, influencing each step so that an individual may be prepared, not just for this life, but also for their existence in the hereafter.

5

2.3 Parent-Child Relationship in Islam

Islam regulates the parent-child relationship within the framework of responsibilities and rights. In other words, parents have responsibilities for and rights over their children and children have responsibilities for and rights over their parents.

2.3.1 Children's Rights and Parents' Responsibilities

Islam provides many rights for children, many of which relating to the topics discussed in this thesis. The name of children is talked about directly 297 times and indirectly 342 times in the Qur'an (Asimgil, 2004). Children's rights in Islam are indicated by two sources, the Qur'an and Hadith. According to Islam, children are a gift from God entrusted to the parents. The parents will be held responsible for this trust during the Day of Judgement. For that reason, children's rights are also to be regarded as a gift from God (Asimgil, 2004; Beshir, 2007; Canan 2010). This right is the essence of child-parent relationships and is a reminder that these responsibilities are important, not only for this life, but also for comfort and happiness in the hereafter. As a result, parents are firstly responsible to God when they are raising their children. In Islam, children's rights include everything that children need in order to be prepared for real life. The family is responsible for meeting those needs including but not limited to, teaching reading and writing, moral education, character education, sports, and career choice.

Children also have a right to kindness, gentleness and mercy, which parents are responsible to show. A Hadith showing this is: 'One of Muhammad's companies saw Muhammad kissing his grandson, and said "I have ten children, I have never kissed any of them." Muhammad said "God will not have mercy on a person who does not have mercy on others" (Beshir, 2007). Another Hadith, "The one who does not have mercy on our young ones and does not show respect to our elders is not from among us." Aisha (Muhammad's wife) said "God is kind and gentle. He loves kindness in all affairs".'

Moreover, verbal communication is an important attribute in providing strong bonds between parents and their children. The Qur'an and the Sunnah provide guidelines for how one must speak to children.. For example, if Muhammad advised the children, He chose His words very carefully, starting with the phrase "O my dear son", sharing their interests and talking to children in a way they could understand. The Qur'an also uses the same phrase when the Prophet Luqman gave the advice his son.

Listening to children is another method of communication including aspects such as body language. Beshir (2007) emphasizes the importance of verbal and non-verbal communicative methods when parents are attempting to communicate with their children, urging them to be kind and gentle. Moreover, the parent should let their children express their feelings and share their happiness and pain. Prophet Muhammad was an active listener. If a child had a problem, He would ask the children to describe the problem, share his/her feelings, and intervene to solve the problem if he/she wants; He would suggest several ideas to deal with the problem, and let the children choose (Bashir, 2007).

The Qur'an makes a point about prohibiting offensive nicknames: "And do not defame one another, nor call one other by [offensive] nicknames. Evil is the name denoting wickedness after faith. And those who do not repent, they are wrong-doers" (Qur'an 49:11). One of Muhammad's companies named Anas bin Malik said that Muhammad did not use insults or bad language or curse. His wife Aisha said that "Muhammad was not improper or obscene in his language, nor was he loud-mouthed in the streets, nor did he return evil for evil, but he would forgive and pardon" (Bashir, 2007)

Parents are responsible for providing their children's materialistic needs such as sustenance and housing. Additional parental responsibilities to the child include: i) to give him/her a good name, ii) to teach him/her how to read and write, and iii) to marry him/her when he comes to an age appropriate to pursue conjugal life. Parents are responsible for raising their children from this world to the hereafter. For that reason, parents encourage the spiritual life as well as the bodily health of their children.

2.3.2 Parent's Rights and Children's Responsibilities

In order to obey God and Muhammad, children must be obedient and respectful to their parents. The Qur'an says "And we have enjoined upon man concerning his parents: his mother bore him in weakness upon weakness, and his weaning is in two years. Therefore, show gratitude to Me and to both your parents: unto Me is the eventual journeying" (Qur'an 31:14). In order to obtain the God' rewards, children must obey their parents. Muhammad said, "The pleasure of God lies in the pleasure of the parents and the displeasure of God lies in displeasing the parents". In another Hadith he stated that "God has commanded that if anybody prays equal to the invocations performed by the prophets, such prayers will do no good if that person has been cursed by his or her parents". Thus, parents and children are contingent upon one another for proper Islamic practice.

"Worship none save God [only], and be good to parents" (Qur'an 2:83; Schleifer, 1996 :8). The verse relates the obligation children in Islam have in regards to their behavior, and says to pray to God for forgiveness and also shows good treatment to your parents. Another verse

8

speaks on parent's rights "Give thanks unto Me and unto thy parents" (Qur'an 31:14). The verse shows gratitude, or thanks, to God and also to the parents. Islam often calls for respect and kindnesss to parents: "And do good [show kindness] unto parents, and unto kinsfolk and orphans, and the needy" (Qur'an 4:36; Schleifer, 1996:10).

These verses also show children's responsibilities for how they should behave and treat

their parents once their parents have reached an old age:

"Your Lord has decreed that you worship none but Him, and that you be kind to your parents. If one or both of them attain old age in their life, do not say to them a word of disrespect, nor repel them, but address them in terms of honor. And out of kindness, lower to them the wing of humility, and say, 'My Lord! Bestow on them Your mercy, just as they cherished me in childhood." (Qur'an 17:23,24)

There are many more Hadiths about children's responsibilities on how to act towards

their parents, instructing on kindness and the ideal parent-child relationship:

"The greatest of the major sins are to make others partners with God and to kill a human being and to be undutiful to parents and to bear false witness." The other "Safeguard the love for your parent. Do not cut it off or your light will be extinguished by God" (Schleifer, 1996:11).

"I asked Muhammad which deed was the first preferred? He said: Prayer at its proper time. Then I asked: Which is next? He said: Kindness to parents" (Schleifer, 1996:11).

"The satisfaction of the God is [in] the satisfaction of the parents, and the displeasure of the God is [in] the displeasure of the parents" (Schleifer, 1996).

2.4 Motherhood in Islam

Mothers play a strong role in Islamic social structure because they raise children to fill

future community positions. Thus, mothers are given a special status in the home and abroad.

"Paradise is at the foot of the mother" (Schleifer, 1996:88). The Hadith heralds the reward of

mothers as Paradise. Another one, "those who carry children, give birth to them, feed them at the breast, and treat them kindly, if they do their prayers, go to Paradise" (Hadith).

Women in Islam are the main actress for raising children. In this way, the meaning of motherhood in Islam refers to the immediate personal responsibility of women to raise their children as faithful Muslims with motherly love and affection enhanced by their piety (Saktanber, 2002). The assignment of this specific role immortalizes women, acknowledging them as a keeper of Islam, and also warrants reducing their indispensability to dependency. Mothers have a strong role in controlling and influencing the inconsistency that may occur in parenting, resulting in psychological disorder (Dwairy, 2008). Thus, "Home and family are seen as the foundation of Islamic society, and 'mothering' has become the most indispensable function performed for the survival of these foundations" (Saktanber, 2002:43). Saktanber indicates women in Islam are thought of as having been created with the innate qualities of motherly mercy and affection according to the Islamic discourse on gender complementarities. Mothers have very strong functional roles within Islam such as raising children to arrange future society. For that reason, mothers are given special status. The Qur'an provides examples for why we should respect mothers:

"Narrated Abu Hurairah; A man asked the Mohammed "To whom should I show kindness?" He replied: "To your mother". I said again: "And then to whom?" He answered: "To your mother." I asked a third time, he said "To your mother." When I asked a fourth time, he said: "To your father, then to the closest relative after him, and then the next closest." (Hamid, 2002:13)

The Hadith shows that mothers are the most deserving, given preference based on their tireless efforts for the rearing and bearing of their children, their compassion, their service, their pregnancy, and delivery (Schleifer, 1996). In fact, mothers are more actively involved with their children than fathers (Ozgun and Honig, 2005; Erkman and Rohner, 2006; Erkal et al. 2007).

There are varieties of reasons that result in mothers being more involved with childcare activities such as culture, established gender roles, and the position of being an unemployed housewife.

2.5 Fatherhood in Islam

Muslim fathers also have an important role in the lives of their children. A father's role is more clearly described than a mother's in the Qur'an and Hadith (Tarazi, 1995). According to the Islamic value system, a Muslim father is responsible for protecting his family and children (Hossain et al. 2005). It is expected that fathers should provide for the educational and financial needs of their children. One Hadith says "A father gives his child nothing better than a good education". Muhammad pointed out that the Hadiths dictate how fathers should behave towards their family and wife: "What a man spends on his family is a charity [*sadaka*], and a man will be rewarded even for the morsel that he raises to his wife's lips". Furthermore, "A man will be rewarded for what he spends on his wife, even for putting a morsel of food into her mouth. When Allah grants wealth to one of you, he should spend it first on himself and his family". On the other hand, another Hadith completed the first one: if a father is miser, Muhammad said "He is not one of us who possesses money but keeps his family away from his wealth" (Hadith).

There are several Hadiths outline fathers' behaviors relating to how they should take care of their children and their family members:

"Whoever performs his prayers correctly, and spends on his children in spite of his modest means, and does not speak ill against others will be in Paradise as close to me as these [two fingers of mine]" (Hadith).

Muhammad said "The most perfect of the believers in faith is he who has the best character, and is most gentle toward his family" (Hadith).

"Whoever is given three daughters and spends on them and treats them well...surely God will reward him in Paradise" (Hadith).

A'isha (Muhammad's wife) explained when the company asked her how Muhammad did at home. "He was at the service of his family." He helped his family in their chores, and when the prayer time came, he would go out to pray. She also says that "he did as any man does, he cleaned his shoes and picked up his clothes" (Harthford, 2007). This Hadith shows fathers are responsible not only for their family's material desires but also they are also responsible for their spiritual life. "Nobody shall meet God with a sin greater than that of having left his family in ignorance" (Maqsood, 61).

2.5.1 Ultimate Role Model: Prophet Muhammad as a Father

Muslims consider Muhammad as the ultimate role model in all aspects of life, including parenting. He was compassionate and never neglected or abused his children, grandchildren or any other children in his life. He encouraged, caressed and loved them (Gulen, 1996). He prepared his children for this life as well as the hereafter (Gulen, 1996). Anas Bin Malik, his servant for 10 years, says: "I have never seen a man who was more compassionate to his family members than Muhammad" (Gulen, 1996:241). Another witness was Aise , Muhammad's (PBUH) wife, said He was helpful in the service of his family when He was at home (Hamid, 2003).

There are many cases that show his attachment and involvement with his family. For example, Hamid (2003) notes one occasion in which Muhammad carried his grandson on his shoulders, and said: "O God, I love him, so You love him too". This shows the importance of affection for children as outlined by God's message.

Muhammad showed great involvement and willingness to spend time with his children. For example, one day when his grandchildren were on his back, his friend said: "What a beautiful mount you have!" Muhammad added: "What beautiful riders they are!" (Gulen, 1996:242). With so many parenting examples, Muslim parents should look to Muhammad as a guide for appropriate and gentle childrearing.

Even during worship, he regarded his children as one of his highest priorities. He never abstained from being kind to children, even during individual or congregational prayers. For instance, His granddaughter would climb on his shoulders and back when he was praying in the mosque. Being careful to be kind to children, He would take care to put her down when He prostrated, and put her back on His shoulders when He straightened up (Gulen, 1996). Another example, His grandson visited Him at the mosque during congregational praying one day and was sitting on His back as He was prostrating. The people asked him: "O Messenger of God! The prostration was so long, we thought something had happened to you?" He answered: "No! Nothing is happened. My child had climbed on my back. I though it inappropriate to hurry him to get off before he was ready to [I waited until he got down before continuing]". Muhammad said "I stand up to pray and I intend to pray at length; but when I hear the cry of a child I shorten it for fear that the mother might be distressed" (Gulcur, 2009).

For example, when Fatima (one of his daughters) visited Him, He stood up and gave her His seat. He talked with her about her health, family, and also caressed her and said many compliments; they have strong relationship with each other (Gulen, 1996).

2.6 The Concept of Parental Discipline in Islam

According to Islam, parents should be role models of virtue for their children. Parents should nurture, educate, and train their children to the best of their ability (Gulcur, 2009). However, conflicts that call for discipline should also be addressed. In her book, *The Child in Islam*, Norma Tarazi (1995) suggests strategies for dealing with parent-child problems.

- Ignoring faults and errors: Do not ignore everything that children do. There should be balance and parents should not become frustrated by their children's misbehavior. "The one who covers the failings of someone in this world will have his shortcomings covered by God on the Day of Judgment" (Hadith).
- Do not accuse in a direct way: If a child has made a mistake, parents should give their advice in private not in public, especially if parents have more than one child. Parents must not publicly accuse or reprimand their child, talking to the child in private and give him/her to the chance to think about their actual situation rather than about the embarrassment he/she is feeling. "The one who does not have mercy on our young ones and does not show respect to our elders is not from among us" (Hadith).
- Modifying the Environment: Confrontation should be avoided when solving problems in parent-child relationships. The Qur'an states, "God desires ease for you, and He does not desire hardship" (Qur'an 2:185). Effective communication methods should be used to resolve conflict between parents and children.

- Substitution: Parents should replace dangerous or undesirable actions and objects with more useful and desirable situations. Muhammad suggests finding something else to do if something is not beneficial.
- Natural Consequences: Parents should let their children experience the consequences of their misbehaviors. "O mankind, be mindful of your God, and fear a Day when no parent will be of any avail to his child, nor will a child be of any avail for his parent" (Qur'an 31:33). Children cannot always rely on parental sheltering and should thus be encouraged to explore and experience the consequences of their actions.
- Time Out and negative emotions: Time out is removing a child temporarily from a situation when he or she is out of control. There are many verses and Hadiths about the dangers of anger and how to control the emotion. Hadith says "Do not be angry". Muhammad described the strongest person as the one who controls himself when he is in a fit of rage, not as the one who wrestles others. Another Hadith suggests to change position. "If one of you gets angry while he is standing, let him sit down, and if he is still angry, let him lie down".

When it comes to physical punishment, Muhammad never struck anyone with his hand, neither a women nor a servant throughout his life (Tarazi, 1995). However, there is a one Hadith about instruction, "Order your children to pray when they become seven years old, and spank them for it when they become ten years old". Tarazi notes that the main purpose of spanking is to represent a parent's dissatisfaction and the seriousness of the child's mistake. However, spanking should be used as a last resort by parents who are normally kind and in control. The Hadith is very specific because of the importance of daily prayer. The Islamic guidelines, derived by scholars of the Hadith, are as follows;

- 1- Do not hit the face, head, or tender parts of the body
- 2- Do not hit hard enough to leave a mark on the skin
- 3- Do not spank when you feel you might lose control. (Tarazi, 1995; Asimgil, 2004).

There are no other Hadith or Qur'anic verses about spanking or other corporal

punishment for children in Islam. Other Hadiths say "do not beat your children (*tifil*)" and "do not hit on your children's face" (Asimgil, 2004). Moreover, verbal abuse is also prohibited; one Hadith says "do not pray against your children...for if you pray at the time when prayers are accepted, God may accept your prayer" (Gulcur, 2009).

In one Hadith the Prophet asked His companions

"Do you know who is poor?" They responded that a poor person is someone who does not have wealth. He said "The poor one among my *ummah* [companions] is the one who will come on the Day of Resurrection with prayers and fasts and *zakah*, but he will have abused others, slandered others, unlawfully taken the wealth of others, and shed the blood of others and beaten others, and his virtues will be credited to the account of one [who suffered at his hand]. If his good deeds fall short of clearing the account, his sins will be entered into [his account] and he will be thrown into Hellfire." (Tarazi, 1995)

The Hadith shows that Islam prohibits abusing, beating, slandering, and shedding the blood of children as well as all humankind. According to Islam, one of the greatest sins is hypocritically worshiping God while abusing and injuring others.

Muhammad also emphasized verbal communication, saying that "A believer is not given to accusing others or cursing them, nor is he immoral or shameless" and "A believer does not taunt, curse, abuse, or talk indecently". One time a man's cloak was snatched away because of the wind and he cursed the wind. Muhammad said "Do not curse it, for it is under (God) command, and if anyone curses a thing undeservedly, the curse returns upon him. As the paper was told that according the Islam, children is trusted to parent from God".

The previous examples highlight the prophet's authoritative parenting styles seen throughout the Qur'an and Hadith. Authoritative parents have close and strong relationships with their children and support their families with verbal and physical expression. They use their authority when necessary, and combine support and warmth to reinforce rules in their household. When rules are enforced, parents explain their meaning and discuss their importance with their children. The Qur'an also shows examples of strong parent-child relationships between prophets and their families. For example, the chapter of Luqman in the Qur'an states that the prophet Luqman gives his son critical advice for this life and the afterlife. He also gives his son advice on how to conduct himself with good manners. Furthermore, Luqman establishes the foundation for his son's afterlife by encouraging prayer and patience and highlighting the positive effects of such actions: "O my son! Establish regular prayer, enjoin what is just, forbid what is wrong, and bear with patient constancy whatever betide thee; for this is firmness in affairs" (Qur'an 31:13; Tarazi,1995). Not only does the Qur'an present Muhammad as an example of authoritative parenting, but also Luqman and other prophets.

3. PRACTICE: PARENTING IN PREDOMINATLY MUSLIM COUNTRIES

3.1 Parenting Styles

Parenting styles include attitudes and beliefs about childrearing methods. These sets of attitudes and beliefs transform a theoretical position into a collection of fluid parenting practices (Kircaali, 2004). These methods differ from each other based on structural and functional perceptions. Parenting styles are classified according to parental behavioral controls towards children. According to Diana Baumrind's 1967 theory "Family Attitudes" there are three different parenting styles: permissive, authoritarian and authoritative. Research shows these three parenting styles are seen throughout predominantly Muslim countries. However, Western and non-Western countries do not have the same perception of these parenting styles (Dwairy, 2008). Some studies indicate that authoritarian parenting results in positive outcomes and that indulgent/permissive parenting helps develop a child's skills.

Alev Onder and Hulya Gulay (2009) worked with 604 parents and 328 preschool children to study parenting styles in Turkey. They indicated three different parenting styles: permissive, authoritarian and authoritative according to Baumrind's theory. Permissive parents give their children excessive freedom and a lower level of discipline. Their expectations from their children are also low. They approve their children's wishes without any searching (Dwairy 2008; Onder and Gulay 2008; Brown and Iyengar, 2008). Authoritarian parents give their children excessive levels of authority and control their children's behavior with strict rules. Authoritarian parenting is often related to negative psychosocial outcomes (Takeuchi 2010; Simons and Conger 2007; Gershoff 2002). However, studies show that authoritarian parenting is not the most predominant style in authoritarian cultures. There exists a discrepancy between parenting style and cultural contributions to these negative outcomes (Dwairy, 2008; Yaman et al. 2010). Lastly, authoritative parents have close and strong relationships with their children, and support their children with verbal and physical expression. According to Kircali (2004), Simons and Conder (2007), Onder and Gulay (2009) and Yaman et al. (2010), the most acceptable and ideal form of parenting style is authoritative parenting. Research shows that these three parenting styles - permissive, authoritarian and authoritative - are seen in Turkey. They are interchangeable depending on the parent's socioeconomic level, cultural impact, and other lifestyle determinants (Uslu et al. 2010; Turla et al. 2010; Demir and Sayil 2009).

Turkel and Tezer (2008) study how parental support, warmth, and monitoring contribute to the development of an adolescent's self-control skills such as behavior, emotion, and thought. They worked with 834 adolescents in Ankara, Turkey's capital, utilizing respondents of middle to lower socioeconomic status from suburban areas. There is a relatively large amount of the population that may be classified as middle to lower middle class throughout urban and rural areas in Turkey. For that reason, the respondents serve as an accurate representation of the most dominant class in Turkey. Turkel and Tezer (2008) categorize Turkish parenting styles into four different types: authoritative, authoritarian, neglectful, and indulgent. This study indicates that the positive outcomes that result from authoritative and indulgent parenting styles include acceptance and involvement; these styles provide a warm environment for a child's development. There is a significant issue when we consider parenting styles. For example, Simons and Cogner (2007), point out that parenting styles are not neatly classified; one parent may be authoritarian while the other is permissive. In other words, these differences show that mothers and fathers could practice different childrearing strategies under the same roof. These varied combinations may result in positive outcomes as seen with the authoritative parenting style. Alternatively, they could create negative outcomes when they use other parenting styles.

3.2 Parental Discipline

Parents use disciplinary practices to socialize their children (Kircaali, 2004). Childhood disciplinary techniques depend on parameters related to child, parent, family, and resources such as level of income and education (Orhon et al. 2006). Kircaali (2004) illustrates how Turkish mothers discipline their children. The research involved 50 mothers with preschool-aged children in the urban city of Eskisehir. Because of the limited scope of respondents, the research does not portray a wide picture of Turkey as a whole, but rather shows a sample of some of the methods of praise and punishment in the country. Mothers displayed two main disciplinary methods: strengthening positive child behaviors and overcoming problematic behaviors. The results show that verbal explanation is one of the most popular disciplinary methods among Turkish parents. Moreover, verbal praise aids in strengthening parent-child relationships. In addition to verbal praise, other behavioral techniques are used for strengthening positive child behaviors such as tangible objects (giving or buying books, toys, or other prizes), activities (doing something pleasant together such as going out, playing or designating free time), edible rewards (giving chocolate, ice cream or other treats), and tokens (giving tokens such as money that can be exchanged for something else). Conversely, disciplinary methods for overcoming behavioral

problems include verbal explanation, redirecting attention, threatening, and physical punishment. The research shows such punishments have little effect on the psychological adjustment of a child due to his or her perception of parental acceptance (Dwairy, 2008). "It seems that authoritarian socialization, when applied within an authoritarian culture such as Muslim/Arab has a meaning and effect different from that known in western societies" (Dwairy 2008:617). Children in Eastern collective cultures view punishment as a normal duty of parents and teachers. For example, Chinese, Turkish, African American, and Arab children comprehend authoritarian parenting as a positive parental attitude, and its meaning is loving and caring (Dwairy 2008). Another study explores the level of parenting input and warmth among Turkish and American adolescents (Kagitcibasi, 2009). The author states that Turkish adolescents have more parenting input than American adolescents, yet the perception of parental warmth is the same between the two groups. She also advises that perceptions of parental warmth and parental control are changing among different social classes and urban and rural areas.

Demir and Sayil's 2009 study reflects on individualistic and collectivistic trends, especially those that change as a result of socioeconomic statures and age differences those impact Turkish children, adolescents and mothers. Younger children display more collectivistic values such as less social networking and closer relationships with family. On the other hand, older adolescents are more individualistic and independent, responding positively to broad social networks and activities (Demir and Sayil, 2009). In short, the punishment and reward process is more useful and obedience to parents is greater when children are younger.

3.3 Physical Punishment/Dehumanization

Physical punishment is one disciplinary method present in non-Western cultures. While many cultures may use physical punishment as a means of child discipline, the perception of its use is different in non-Western and Western countries. The varying perceptions between the two societies reflect the cultural differences between the East and West. Orhon et al. (2006) studied attitudes of Turkish populations toward child disciplinary methods and the acceptance of physical punishment. The study showed that severe physical punishment was accepted as a disciplinary method. Some of the respondents said certain punishments, such as spanking or shaking a child, are acceptable. However, extremely severe punishments were not accepted as disciplinary methods. The results also showed that most of the respondents experienced physical punishment during childhood. Research studying Saudi female college students showed that 67.5% said they received physical punishment at various stages of their lives. However, 65.1% said that this physical punishment was justified (Dwairy 2008). It may be concluded that physical punishment is an accepted means of parenting in collective cultures in non-Western countries. One study of university students in Samsun, Turkey showed that many students experienced physical punishment during childhood (Turla et al. 2006 – 2007). Out of 988 university students surveyed, 527(53.3%) respondents experienced physical punishment during childhood (64.0% in males, 41.6% in females) (Turla et al, 2010). The results showed that the top reasons were "loss of abuser's self-control" and "establishment of discipline at home." After physical punishment, respondents were humiliated and felt that the punishment was unjustified (Turla et al, 2010). The respondents, who were of higher educational levels, claimed that the abuse happened 10 to 15 years prior to enrolling at the university. This higher educational level and physical punishment have an inverse ratio. The research shows that the respondents accepted physical punishment as a key to nurturing child development (Turla et al, 2010). Male respondents were more accepting to this idea than female respondents. The research did not give any background on the respondents such as class, urban or rural upbringing, or family structure. Such background information could be helpful to determinate the scope of the research. Turkish culture has a multiethnic structure that distinguishes the nation from other Muslim countries. This multiethnic culture has different ideas of physical punishment as a means to discipline or nurture children. There are some adages to support physical punishment as a defense mechanism to cover abusers' excessive behavior. "Cultural acceptability" backs these adages as appropriate methods of discipline; "beating has come out of heaven (beating heals bad manners and so leads to the heaven)" or "roses grow everywhere on the body of a child beaten by his/her own mother (a mother beats his/her children to obedience and good deeds)" (Turla et al. 2010; Uslu et al. 2010).

Males are the dominant gender within Turkish families. Due to the common functional perspective of the parents where the female is the unemployed housewife and the male is the breadwinner. However, mothers are more responsible for establishing close relationships with their children than fathers in Turkish society. Mothers are the primary disciplinarians at home, and they furnish more and severe physical punishment upon their children than do fathers (Uslu et al. 2010). Young children typically encounter physical punishment more than adolescents; the same may be said for boys versus girls (Erkman and Rohner, 2006).

In conclusion, studies show that physical punishment is an integral facet of Non-Western parenting styles. While physical punishment is widely accepted, there are differing opinions on the justifications of such reprimands by receivers of physical punishment. Thus, positive and negative perceptions of physical punishments are changing among non-Western countries and Turkey.

4. DATA AND METHOD

4.1 Hypotheses

Based on the review of the literature, the following hypotheses are tested in order to

explore what factors influence parenting style among Muslims in the United States:

i) What is the relationship between income, education and parenting styles?

1. Hypotheses regarding parents' socio-demographic characteristics:

Hypothesis 1.a: Parents with higher education levels are less likely to practice an authoritarian parenting style.

Hypothesis 1.b: Parents with higher income levels are less likely to practice an authoritarian parenting style.

ii) What is the relationship between religion and parenting style?

2. Hypotheses regarding parents' religiosity:

Hypothesis 2: Parents with higher levels of religiosity are less likely to practice an authoritarian parenting style.

iii) What is the relationship between physical/verbal punishment experienced in childhood and

the parenting style?

3. Hypotheses regarding parents' childhood experiences:

Hypothesis 3.a: Parents who have experienced physical punishment in their own childhood are more likely to practice an authoritarian parenting style.

Hypothesis 3.b: Parents who have experienced verbal punishment in their own childhood are more likely to practice authoritarian parenting styles.

iv) What is the relationship between a parent's view about Islamic Parenting and the parenting style?

4. Hypotheses regarding Islamic parenting perceptions:

Hypothesis 4.a : Parents who perceive that Islamic parenting allows spanking are more likely to practice an authoritarian parenting style.

Hypothesis 4.b: Parents who perceive that Islamic Parenting allows slapping are more likely to practice an authoritarian parenting style.

The sample for this study is Muslim parents who live in the state of Florida. Parenting styles of Muslims in the US have not yet been studied, although approximately there are about 7 million Muslims living in the United States. Sampling Florida Muslim populations is a first step to understand the parenting styles of Muslims in the US.

A survey was developed to test the aforementioned hypotheses and was approved by the Institutional Review Board (IRB) at the University of Central Florida (See Appendix D). Muslim parents living in Florida were interviewed utilizing a snowball sampling technique. The survey consisted of 40 questions (see Appendix B) and data collection began in January 2012, and continued through March 2012. Hard copies of the survey were distributed by participating in activities in the Muslim community and a K-12 Private Muslim School. The surveys were also sent out by Turkish email groups in Tallahassee, Gainesville and Miami, and an all-Muslim email group in Orlando, Florida. All the surveys were conducted in English because it is the common language among study participants. The surveys were conducted in masjids (a place of worship, or Mosque), community events such as festivals, meetings and a private Muslim school since these are the ideal places to be able to reach Muslims with various backgrounds in United States. For example, the K-12 Private Muslim School is an ideal place to reach Muslim parents. The festivals are some of the favorites social events for local Muslims, as individuals have the opportunity to see their culture, art, music, dance and food in America. On the other hand, the masjids are among the first places parents bring their children to have prayer and religious and social activities in United States

In detail, I went to a Bosnian and Turkish joint program in Tampa at the Largo Community Center on February 5, 2012. The center hosted a celebration for the birthday of Prophet Muhammad. The majority of participants were Bosnians who lived in Tampa. The surveys were separated between those parent participants who wanted to volunteer to fill it out the survey before the program started and those who wanted to take the survey after the end of the program. In addition, I visited the Miami Turkish Festival on February 18 in Huzenga Plaza at Bubier Park in Fort Lauderdale, and the Arab Festival of Orlando on March 25 at Lake Eola Park in Orlando. I distributed surveys to guests and vendors who had children. I then visited 4 masjids : Al Rahman Masjid, Al Malik Masjid, Al Quaba Masjid, and Al Noor Masjid in Orlando. I participated in the mosques' family nights and child classes, congregational prayer meetings on Fridays, and a Sunday class for parents.

In total, 233 Muslim parents between the ages of 20 and 60 participated in the survey. Twenty-six participated via email and the rest filled out hard copies of the survey.

4.2 Dependent Variable

Parenting styles were measured through an index composed of nine items developed using other dissertations (Marsh, 1996; Krishnan, 2004; Castelli, 2009) and published papers on parenting styles, physical punishment, and child discipline (Baumrind, 1966, 1968, 1971 Dwairy, 2008). Parenting styles are classified by the dimensions of parental control such as demand and responsiveness (Baumrind, 1966, 1968). Parents are categorized based on these two dimensions. For example, if parents have high dimensions in both categories, they are called authoritative parents (Simon and Conger, 2007). Authoritative parents use their authorities when necessary and combine support and warmth to reinforce rules. On the other hand, authoritarian parents lack responsiveness and focus on control. They anticipate obedience from their children, and do not tolerate mistakes. They do not support their children emotionally and do not respond when their children need them. Simon and Conger (2007) have developed four items for parenting scales: Warmth/support, hostility, consistent discipline, and monitoring. Based on this scale, a parenting style scale was created. The new scale includes nine items with the goal of measuring parents' attitudes towards and behaviors surrounding childrearing. In total, 13 questions are utilized to determine `parental control. They measure practical parent-child relationships, social bonds, attachment and involvement (See Appendix A and B).

The questions measure parents' attitudes and behaviors toward their children. Questions regarding discipline ask parents about their opinions in regards to verbal and physical punishment. Parents are asked about their practices and perceptions of the following nine items: Play time, opinion of physical punishment (positive), opinion of physical punishment (negative), verbal abuse, leisure and pleasure activities, answering a child's questions, types of clothing, sacrifice of personal time, and expression of affection. The answers are collected using three main categories. The first response category includes: playtime, leisure and pleasure activities, answering a child's questions, and types of clothing. The response options are: Never (5), Rarely (4), Sometimes (3), Frequently (2) and Always (1). The second response category includes: Obedience, perception of physical punishment (positive and negative), and perception of verbal abuse. The response options are: Strongly agree (1), Agree (2), Neither agree nor disagree (3), Disagree (4), and Strongly disagree (5). These ranges change the direction of the response was adjusted to correspond to the range of the scale.

The scale includes thirteen questions. This scale was created with the sum of the parenting styles questions and physical punishment questions. The parenting styles and physical punishment questions are summed together (see Appendix A and B). The scale range from 1 through 5 and numbers in the lower values are associated with authoritative parenting and numbers in the higher values are associated with authoritarian parenting (Table 1). The scale had good reliability with an alpha of =.769.

4.3 Independent Variables

The following independent variables were tested:

Income level and education level: Income and education have been found to relate to parenting styles in regards to childrearing (Demir and Sayil 2009; Turla et al. 2010). Parents with higher income and education levels are less likely to practice authoritarian parenting styles (Uslu et al. 2010). Education level was measured by the following question in the survey: "What is your education level?" The response options ranged from "Elementary school (1)," "Middle school (2)," "High school (3)" to "University (4)".

Level of income was measured with following question in the survey: "What is your annual household income?" The response ranged from (1) less than \$9.999, (2) \$10.000-19.999, (3) \$20.000-29.999, (4) \$30.000-39.999, (5) 40.000-49.999, (6) \$50.000-74.999, (7) \$75.000-99.999, (8) \$100.000-199.999, to (9) \$200.000 or more.

Level of religiosity: Religiosity has been found to impact parenting styles (Mahoney, 2010). The study tests the respondents' religiosity levels and how their faith influences their parenting style.

The level of religiosity tests through self-perception, level of practice, and level of morals. The following questions are asked in the survey to find out the respondent's self-perception: "How religious do you consider yourself to be?" The potential answers ranged from "Not religious at all(1)," "Somewhat religious(2)" to "Very religious(3)". The respondent's level of practice is tested with the following two questions in the survey: "How often do you pray (*salat*)?" and "How often do you read the Qur'an?" The response categories for pray ranged from never(1), only religious days(2), about once a week(3), more than once a week(4), at least once a day(5), more than once a day(6) to five times a day(7). Higher values indicate frequency of prayer. The response categories for reading Qur'an were never (1), only religious days(2), about once a week(4), at least once a day(6). The question about level of morality was: "How often do you lie?" The response ranged from never(1), at least once a week(2), several times a week(3), at least once a day(4), to several times a day.

Experience of physical and verbal punishment in childhood: An adult's childhood has been found to influence parenting styles. Parents who have experienced physical and/or verbal punishment in their childhood are more likely to practice authoritarian parenting styles (Turla et al. 2010). This variable determined if the respondents experienced physical punishment or abuse during their childhood. This question bridges respondents' perceptions from the past to the present and is measured utilizing the following three questions: "How often were you physically punished?" "How often were you verbally punished?" and "How severe was the physical punishment?" Answer categories for physical and verbal punishment were never, rarely, sometimes, frequently and always, coded from 1 (never) to 5 (always). The third question on background was in regards to the severity of the physical punishment the respondents received as a child. In the survey, the range for severity of physical punishment was mild(1), moderate(2), severe(3) and very severe(4).

Perception of Islamic Parenting: The perception of Islamic Parenting often influences parenting styles (Dwairy, 2008). This variable was used to investigate Muslim parents' perceptions of Islamic Parenting. The variable was tested with five questions in the survey. The questions were: "In your opinion, does Islam allow a parent to slap a child under some conditions?" "In your opinion, does Islam allow spanking child/ren for misbehavior?" "In your opinion, does Islam allow spanking child/ren about Islamic theology and practice is one of my top priorities as a parent." The response categories were "yes" (0) and " no," (1). The last question for the perception of Islamic parenting is, "I raise my child/ren" (mark all that apply) and the responses categories are, "to continue the family name and my lineage so that I am remembered after I die," "to please God," "to be good Muslims," "to take care of me physically and financially when I am old," "so that I am not alone in life" and "others." Each category in this question was answered separately. The range for this question depended on the number of responses; if a respondent marks one of the responses, the category was 1 and if a respondent marks no response, the category was 0.

4.4 Control Variables

Control variables were participants' age, gender, years of marriage, and numbers of children. The age of the participants was obtained through an open-ended question. The age ranged 23 and 65 years. Gender was a question with two response categories including male and female. In the regression analysis a dummy variable is created for gender and coded (1) if female and (0) if male. The marital status of participants had three response categories: Married,

divorced/separated, and widowed. If the participants chose the "married" option, they were also asked about the number of years they were married. The range of years participants had been married was between 1 and 42 years. Nationality was also measured as a control variable; a dummy variable for nationality was included and coded (1) if not American and (0) if American.

Parents responded to an open-ended question asking about the number of children they had. The number of children was measured by asking, "How many children do you have?" The responses ranged from1 through 7. Parents choose all the ages of children that apply among five categories: 0-5(1), 6-10(2), 11-15(3), 16-20(4), and 21(5) years old and older.

5. ANALYSIS AND RESULTS

5.1 Descriptive Results

The mean and standard errors of all dependent and independent variables appear in Table 1. The parenting scale had a mean score of M=25.29. Higher scores on the parenting scale indicated an authoritarian parenting style and lower scores suggested an authoritative parenting style. The results showed that the majority of the parents have a college degree, and that the mean income is 5.49 which is between "\$40.000-\$49.999" and "\$50.000-\$74.999." Approximately 1% answered "not religious at all," 49% answered "somewhat religious" and 50% answered "very religious." The religiosity questions about practice and morals, 92% of parents at least pray five times or more than once a day. The mean for reading the Qur'an is 3.87, which is roughly more than once a week. The results show that respondents in the study are relatively religious parents. The mean for physical punishment as a child is 2.03, which is between rarely and sometimes. In the survey, the range for severity of physical punishment is 1-4 and the answer categories are mild, moderate, severe and very severe. About 73% of respondents experienced physical punishment as a child. Verbal abuse is more common than physical punishment among respondents. Around 94% of the respondents answered "yes" to the question about teaching children Islamic theology and religious practice is one of the top priorities for respondents and their children. The mean for allowing slapping is .27 and the mean of allowing spanking is .47.

Explanatory Variables	Range	Means	Standard Deviations	Total N
Parenting Style	13-65	25.29	7.535	232
Education Level	1-4	3.75	.541	230
Income Level	1-9	5.49	2.002	199
Religiosity Level	1-6	3.87	1.396	227
Experiencing Physical Punishment as a Child	1-5	2.03	.816	227
Experiencing Verbal Punished as a Child	1-5	2.39	.903	225
Perception of Allowing Slapping	0-1	.27	.447	223
Perception of Allowing Spanking	0-1	.47	.500	216

Table 1: Descriptive Statistics for all Independent and Dependent Variables

A total of two hundred thirty-three (233) Muslim parents participated in the study. The demographic characteristics of the study are seen in Table 2. The majority of the parents in the study are female (66%) and approximately 34% of them are male. Fifty one percent of the parents are aged between 23 and 38, and the remaining 49% of the parents are aged between 39 and 65. 18% of the participants are American. Participants had been living in the U.S. between 1 and 13 years (51%), with the rest living in the US between 14 and 65 years. The nationality of

participants in the survey is 16% American and 84% non-American. Participants answered American cities as their home (41%). Approximately 76% of participants attended a two or fouryear college, 21% graduated from high school and 3% have not completed high school. Annual household incomes of the majority of parents are between \$40,000 and \$74,999. The majority of the parents are currently married (94%). On average, the parents in the study have been married for 13.8 years. Seventy nine percent of the parents have reported having approximately one to three children while 21% report having four to seven children. The dominant age group of the parents' children was one to ten-years-old.

Range Mean/ Standard Total Percentage (%) Deviation (N) 0-1 229 Gender .473 34% Male 77 152 Female 66% Age 23-65 39.44 8.382 227 23-38 51% 116 39-65 49% 111 0-1 .362 207 Ethnicity American 16% 32 Non-American 84% 175 **US** Citizenship 0-1 .387 225 American 18% 41 Non-American 82% 184 Time Lived in US 11.172 1-65 16.25 216 for Non-Americans 1-13 years 51% 111 14-65 years 49% 105 Home City 0-1 222 .493 American Cities 91 41% 131 Non-American 59% Cities Education 1-4 3.75 .541 230 University 76% 175 High School 21% 48 Middle/Elementary 3% 7 199 Income 1-9 5.47 2.017 Less than \$9.999-17% 35 \$29.999 \$30.000-\$49.999 31% 62 \$50.000-\$99.999 32% 63 \$100.000-\$200.000 39 20% or more 1-3 .292 Marital Status 233 94% 218 Married Divorced/Separated 5% 13 2 Widowed 1% Years of Marriage 1-42 7.780 205 13.75 1-18 156 76% 19-42 24% 49 Number of children 1-7 1.349 232 2.62 79% 184 1-3 4-7 48 21%

Table 2: Descriptive Values for Parents who Participated in the Survey.

5.2 Multivariate Results

The relationship among variables were analyzed by multiple linear regression models which ideal for the investigation of more complex real life models. The models were established based upon research questions, existing literature and previous research about some factors affecting parenting styles. Five different models were tested to compare the predictive ability of the independent variables on the dependent variable. In other words, the models explain the variance in the dependent variable on each of the independent variables.

The first part of the analysis section includes an exploration of the parenting scale. The second part of the analysis describes the association of independent variables on the parenting styles. As stated before, to calculate the dependent variable (parenting scale), participants were asked to answer 13 questions and received a score between 13 (lowest) and 65 (highest) (Cronbach's alpha, 769). The mean of the parenting scale was 25.29 suggesting an authoritative parenting style.

A set of multiple linear regression models were used to analyze the data using the Statistical Package for Social Science (SPSS, 19) software the Enter Method, which simultaneously includes all of the independent variables in the equation, was used regardless of their significance level. The results of the models indicated the magnitude and direction of the relationship between the dependent variable and independent variables. The percent of the variance in the parenting style is explained by the independent variables. An alpha level of .05 was used to determine whether any independent variable significantly predicted the dependent variable. A total of five models were investigated to test the study hypotheses in this analysis. The dependent variable was parenting style and the independent variables were parent's educational level and family income. In addition, parent's age, gender, ethnicity, years of marriage, and number of children were included in the models as control variables. The first model includes parent's educational level and family income. The frequency of reading the Qur'an was added as an independent variable to the second model. The third model involves a parent's educational level, family income, frequency of reading the Qur'an and the frequency of physical and verbal punishment experienced in childhood. Parents' views on whether Islam allows slapping and spanking under certain conditions were added to the equation in the fourth model. Finally, in the fifth model gender, age, years of marriage and number of children variables were added to the previous models.

R1:What is the relationship between income, education and parenting styles?

Model 1 tested the relationship between socio-demographic characteristics and parenting style. The regression results for the first model revealed no significant association between a parent's socio-demographic characteristics and parenting style, F(2, 172)=1.078, p>.05). The results showed that education level and income level did not have significant effects on parenting style in the specific sample group.

R2. What is the relationship between level of religious practice and parenting style?

As the next step, the second model tested the relationship between religious practice and parenting style. The second model included reading the Qur'an in addition to sociodemographics characteristics. The results of the second model indicates that there is no significant associations between religious practice and parenting style, F(3,171)=1.919, p>.05) (Table 3).

Variable		Model 1			Model 2		
	В	SE B		В	SE B		
Reading the Qur'an	l			73	.39	14	
Education Level	-1.47	1.01	11	-1.32	1.01	10	
Income Level	.11	.27	.03	.07	.27	.02	

Table 3: Summary of Regression Analyses for Independent Variables Predicting Parenting Style

*P<.05, **P<.01, ***P<.001

R3. What is the relationship between experiencing physical and verbal punishment as a child and parenting style?

In the third model, a significant association between the frequency of physical punishment in childhood and parenting style was found ($\beta = 2.98$, SE = .75, t = 3.88, p < .001). The results show that parents who experienced physical punishment more often tend to score higher on the parenting style, thus suggesting support for hypothesis 3. Parents' educational level, family income, frequency of reading the Qur'an and frequency of verbal punishment as a child, were not significantly associated with parenting style F(5, 169)=5.027, p < .001.

R4. What is the relationship between the Islamic parenting perceptions and parenting style?

Table 4 displays the result of multiple regressions in Model 4. According to this model, parents' educational level, income, frequency of verbal punishment experienced as a child and views on allowing slapping under certain conditions revealed no significant associations with parenting style. On the other hand, frequency of reading the Qur'an, frequency of physical punishment experienced as a child and perception of allowing spanking were significantly associated with parenting style. Parents who read the Qur'an less frequently compared to those who read the Our'an more frequently, parents who experienced more frequent physical punishment in their childhood compared to those who experienced less frequent physical punishment, and parents who think Islam allows spanking compared to those who think Islam does not allow spanking tend to score higher on the parenting scale (authoritarian). F(7, 7)167)=7.539, p<.001. Parents who read the Qur'an more frequently and parents who perceive Islamic parenting scored lower on authoritarian parenting scale. The results reveal a significant association between higher levels of religiosity and lower levels of authoritarian parenting. Parents who perceive that Islamic parenting does not allow spanking are less likely to practice the authoritarian parenting style. Lastly, the scores sponsoring authoritarian parenting increases if parents experienced physical punishment as a child.

Variable	I	Model 3			Model 4		
	В	SE B	β	В	SE B	β	
Reading the Quran	59	.37	11	76*	.35	14*	
Education Level	-1.13	.97	08	-1.46	.92	11	
Income Level	.06	.26	.01	07	.24	02	
Experience of Physical Punishment	2.98 [*]	*** .74	.33***	2.25**	.72	. 25**	
Experience of Verbal Punishment	42	.67	05	03	. 64	00	
Perception of Allowing Slapping				2.12	1.18	.13	
Perception of Allowing Spanking				3.96***	1.07	. 27***	
<i>R</i> ²		.12			.24		

Table 4: Summary of Regression Analyses for Independent variables predicting parenting style

Variable		Model 3		Model 4		
	В	SE B	β	В	SE B	β
F for change in R^2		9.40***			12.16***	

*P<.05 , **P<.01, ***P<.001

Model 5 controlled for gender, nationality, age, number of years married and number of children. First, ethnicity and gender were recoded as dummy variables. The range of nationality was non-American, 1 and American, 0. The range for gender was Female, 1 and Male, 0. In model 5 (Table 5), the relationship between (name them) is significant (F=4.417; d=12,123; p<.05). The results revealed that education level had a negative significant association with the authoritarian parenting scale. When level of education increased, authoritarian parenting decreased. As predicted, the results showed a significant association between higher education and lower levels of authoritarian parenting. On the other hand, higher experience of physical punishment as a child, and higher opinion of allowing spanking resulted in higher levels of authoritarian parenting style. The results revealed that experiencing physical punishment as a child and allowing spanking remained positively and significantly associated with higher scores in the parenting styles after the scale, even inclusion of control variables. The results show that the level of education was negatively related to authoritarian parenting styles. Consistent with

hypothesis 4 parents who have higher levels of education are less likely to score higher on the parenting scale. The control variables do not yield any significant relations

Variable	N	Model 4			Model 5		
	В	SE B	β	В	SE B	β	
Reading the Quran	76*	.35	14*	34	.40	07	
Education Level	-1.46	.92	11	-2.47*	1.11	19*	
Income Level	07	. 24	02	03	.29	00	
Experience of Physical Punishment	2.25**	.72	.25**	2.41**	.84	.27**	
Experience of Verbal Punishment	03	.64	00	.53	.76	.06	
Perception of Allowing Slapping	2.12	1.18	.13	1.67	1.35	.10	
Perception of Allowing Spanking	3.96***	1.07	.27***	4.00 ***	1.16	.29***	
Gender				44	1.18	03	

Table 5: Summary of regression analyses for independent and control variables predicting parenting styles.

Variable		Model 4			Model 5		
	В	SE B	β	В	SE B	β	
Age				.07	.11	.09	
Ethnicity				1.05	1.67	.05	
Years married				14	.13	15	
Number of Children				.57	.50	.10	
R ²		.24			.30		
F for change in R^2		12.16	***		4.41*		

*P<.05 , **P<.01, ***P<.001

6. CONCLUSION AND DISCUSSION

The purpose of the study was to explore the predominant parenting styles among Muslims living in the state of Florida. The original hypothesis that was an authoritarian parenting is the predominant parenting style among Muslims. However, the study did not support this hypothesis as it was found that the predominant parenting style is authoritative. This finding is inconsistent with previous research, which found that the authoritarian parenting style is observed more often among Muslims parents (Erkman and Rohner, 2006; Orhon et al. 2007; Dwairy, 2008; Turla et al. 2010). One plausible explanation for this finding is that the study sample is drawn from a group of Muslims living in the United States, whereas the majority of the previous research was conducted in predominantly Muslim countries. Since religion and culture are interwoven and parenting is influenced by both religion and culture, the findings in the present study could be explained by cultural differences between the respondents and the country where they live. Another explanation could be related to religiosity of Muslim parents. Rohner (2006) and other researchers (Orhon et al. 2007; Dwairy, 2008; Turla et al. 2010) did not measure religiosity within their samples, nor was religiosity considered as an independent variable. However, in this study, religiosity was measured and it was found to be associated to parenting styles.

The relationship between parenting styles and independent variables such as income, education, religiosity, experiencing physical and verbal punishment as a child and the perception that slapping and spanking was also explored.

46

The second research question explored whether there is a relationship between sociodemographic characteristics and parenting styles. It was hypothesized that parents with higher income and education levels were less likely to sponsored an authoritarian parenting style. The results show income and education level were not related to parenting style. Surprisingly, this finding is counterintuitive to the proposed hypotheses. It can be speculated that the result of these variables would be different if the study was conducted in predominantly Muslim countries. Since most of participants in this study had a high level education and above average annual income. If this study was conducted in a predominantly Muslim country, parents from every scoio-economic background would have been included.

The third research question explored whether there was a relationship between religiosity and parenting style. Religiosity is one of the major independent variable in this study. It was hypothesized that religious parents would be more authoritative. The hypothesis was partially supported. The results show that people who frequently read the Qur'an are less authoritarian, and their authority level changes based on the frequency of reading the Qur'an.

The next question was about the influence of physical punishment on parenting styles. Hypothesis 3a suggested that parents who have experienced physical punishment in their childhood were more likely to practice authoritarian parenting with their own children. Hypothesis 3b which suggests that parents who have experienced verbal punishment are more likely to practice authoritarian parenting was not supported by the third model. Since physical punishment is a more serious form of punishment than verbal punishment, physically punished parents sponsored an authoritarian parenting style. This is consistent with the literature that claims that experience of physical punishment in childhood influences parenting styles. Experiencing verbal punishment was not significantly associated with the parenting styles. The results suggests that experiencing physical punishment as a child has more impact on an individual's authoritarian parenting style than experiencing verbal punishment as a child. One plausible explanation for this result is cultural differences, and the acceptance of physical punishment in different cultures.

Finally, the relationship between Islamic parenting perceptions and parenting styles was analyzed. Parents who perceive that Islamic parenting allows spanking and slapping are more likely to practice authoritarian parenting. The results show that this is consistent with hypothesis 4a, which claims that parents who think Islam allows spanking are more authoritarian than parents who think Islam does not allow spanking. There were no significant influences with regards to perceptions on allowing slapping. A potential reason could be the lack of knowledge on the Islamic perspective on childrearing among Muslim parents.

Previous research suggests that physical punishment is used as a punishment for children in Western and non-Western countries, regardless of religion and culture. However, this phenomenon might be seen more in non-Western and Muslim countries because of traditions and culture. These instances can be traced back to the native, collective cultures of those countries prior to their adaptation of Islam. Social norms and values in all cultures affect children's emotional and social development. Culture is a significant determinant of an individual's lifestyle. As a result, childrearing is influenced by culture (Demir and Sayil, 2009). Individualistic and collective cultures have many different trends that influence childrearing. Cultural differences may result in distinctive perceptions of physical punishment as an acceptable childrearing practice. Studies indicate that non-Western cultures are more collectively oriented than individualist Western cultures. These cultural differences may result in different perceptions of the use of physical punishment among parents. That is why physical punishment in non-Western culture does not have negative outcomes compared to Western cultures. Moreover, physical punishments in some predominantly Muslim countries with collective cultures have positive outcomes among children. Children in collective cultures may view punishment as a normal duty of parents and teachers. Chinese, Turkish, African-American, and Arab children comprehend authoritarian parenting as a loving, caring and positive parental strategy (Dwairy 2008). Some studies also show that transformations from collective culture to individual culture may occur in many predominantly Muslim countries.

Various parenting styles are practiced in predominantly Muslim countries as well as Western countries, and there are different opinions about physical punishment. For example, authoritarian parenting has negative outcomes in individualistic cultures, although it has positive outcomes in some collective cultures. The impact of parenting styles and cultures should be considered together. Finally, sometimes parenting consists of a combination of one of the parenting styles. For example, one parent could be authoritarian, while another could be neglectful. Authoritarian parenting styles use physical punishment in comparison with other parenting styles; predominantly Muslim countries more commonly employ authoritarian parenting. However, studies show authoritarian parents have positive outcomes among children in some primarily Muslim countries (Turla et al. 2009; Dwairy 2008) Authoritarian parents have the same definitions in Western individual culture, but the impacts of culture towards parenting styles in collective cultures should be considered. A future study could draw a comparison between Western and non-Western authoritarian parenting styles, as well as other parenting styles because of cultural differences between Western and non-Western countries. It should be noted that the fundamentals of parenting styles were established by Western researchers using Western respondents (Baumrind, 1966; Maccobs and Martin 1983; Lamborn, 1991), therefore these parenting styles may not be completely applicable to non-western countries because of culture, values, morals and religious differences. At the same time, age, gender roles, socioeconomic status, and parents' behaviors all impact the disciplinary methods of the childrearing styles of parents. These factors help to transfer or change cultures and parenting styles. In conclusion, childrearing in Islamic theology and childrearing in practice in predominant Muslim countries show key differences. Even though Islam as a religion does not allow physical punishment to children, studies show some Muslim countries use physical punishment as a disciplinary method.

The design of this study is not longitudinal, and it does not indicate the respondents' ancestral history, such as the level of religiosity of his or her parents and grandparents. This longitudinal information would be helpful to connect the past to the present and would likely be a more robust measure to establish causality. The structure of the sample in this study also does not portray a wide picture of Muslim parents as a whole, but rather shows a sample of religious Muslim parents in Florida. The results of this study cannot be generalized to the whole Muslim population within Islamic countries because of cultural and religiosity differences.

In addition, It should be noted that the fundamentals of parenting scale was established by Western researchers using Western respondents (Baumrind, 1966; Maccobs and Martin 1983; Lamborn, 1991), therefore these parenting scales may not be completely applicable to non-Western countries and Muslim population because of culture, values, morals and religious differences. Further research may be considered to establish a new parenting scale for Muslim parents. Even though there are many studies available to measure the level of religiosity of Christians, there is limited information available on Muslims. Future studies about Muslim parenting styles could include qualitative and ethnographic research. Additionally, understanding culture and making meaningful connections between cultural values and parenting style would allow researchers to take insider perspectives rather than outsider. Instead of generalizing the definition of authoritarian parenting, culture specific or context specific definitions should be considered to narrow the definition of authoritarian parenting. It could be an operational definition of parenting styles for different cultures.

Further tests could extend the analyses to Muslim countries and other states within the United States of America. New parenting styles could even be developed, since parenting styles could be different between collective cultures and individual cultures. Future studies would include research that compares the understanding or perception of the meaning of authoritarian parenting between Western and non-Western cultures. Such a study could question the relationship between culture and parenting styles.

Even with these limitations, this study is one of few studies has analyzed parenting practices among Muslims in the United States. It also contributes to the literature by measuring level of religiosity according to Islam. Finally, the study shows how the religiosity of Muslim parents influences their parenting styles. **APPENDIX A: DEPENDENT VARIABLE**

DV Indicators	Survey Questions
Opinion of Physical Punishment (Negative)	27, 28, 30,32
Opinion of Physical Punishment (Positive)	31*,33*
Perception of Verbal Punishment	34
Sacrifice of Personal Time	20
Leisure and Pleasure Activities	21
Play Time	22
Expression of Affection	23
Answering Child's Questions	24
Types of Clothing	25*

* Recoded

APPENDIX B: FREQUENCIES OF DEPENDENT VARIABLE

					Cumulative
	_	Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Percent
Valid	Always	106	45.5	47.3	47.3
	Frequently	82	35.2	36.6	83.9
	Sometimes	30	12.9	13.4	97.3
	Rarely	4	1.7	1.8	99.1
	Never	2	.9	.9	100.0
	Total	224	96.1	100.0	
Missing	99	9	3.9		
Total		233	100.0		

How often do you sacrifice personal time for your child/ren's routine?

How often do your child/ren give you pleasure and enjoyment?

					Cumulative
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Percent
Valid	Always	136	58.4	59.1	59.1
	Frequently	74	31.8	32.2	91.3
	Sometimes	18	7.7	7.8	99.1
	Never	2	.9	.9	100.0
	Total	230	98.7	100.0	
Missing	99	3	1.3		
Total		233	100.0		

How often do you and your child/ren play with eachother?

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Always	78	33.5	34.7	34.7
	Frequently	88	37.8	39.1	73.8
	Sometimes	56	24.0	24.9	98.7
	Rarely	3	1.3	1.3	100.0
	Total	225	96.6	100.0	
Missing	99	8	3.4		
Total		233	100.0		

	children?								
					Cumulative				
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Percent				
Valid	Always	152	65.2	66.7	66.7				
	Frequently	55	23.6	24.1	90.8				
	Sometimes	18	7.7	7.9	98.7				
	Rarely	2	.9	.9	99.6				
	Never	1	.4	.4	100.0				
	Total	228	97.9	100.0					
Missing	99	5	2.1						
Total		233	100.0						

How often do you express affection by hugging,kissing, and holding your

When your child/ren asks you a question, what fraction of the time do you feel like answering it in an enthusiastic and interested way, rather than feeling irritated that your child/ren is bothering you?

		year enna/rei		0,	
					Cumulative
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Percent
Valid	Always	87	37.3	39.0	39.0
	Frequently	72	30.9	32.3	71.3
	Sometimes	54	23.2	24.2	95.5
	Rarely	6	2.6	2.7	98.2
	Never	4	1.7	1.8	100.0
	Total	223	95.7	100.0	
Missing	99	10	4.3		
Total		233	100.0		

		your c	hild/ren?2*		
					Cumulative
	-	Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Percent
Valid	Never	77	33.0	34.4	34.4
	Rarely	72	30.9	32.1	66.5
	Sometimes	48	20.6	21.4	87.9
	Frequently	21	9.0	9.4	97.3
	Always	6	2.6	2.7	100.0
	Total	224	96.1	100.0	
Missing	99	9	3.9		
Total		233	100.0		

how often during the last month have you argued over which clothes to wear with

PHYSICAL PUNISHMENT QUESTIONNARIE

	Parent should have th	e fight to phy.	sically pulls		
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	-				
Valid	Strongly Disagree	66	28.3	29.5	29.5
	Disagree	54	23.2	24.1	53.6
	Neither Agree, Nor Disagree	45	19.3	20.1	73.7
	Agree	45	19.3	20.1	93.8
	Strongly Agree	14	6.0	6.3	100.0
	Total	224	96.1	100.0	
Missing	99	9	3.9		
Total		233	100.0		

Parent should have the right to physically punish their children

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Strongly Disagree	77	33.0	34.4	34.4
	Disagree	60	25.8	26.8	61.2
	Neither Agree, Nor Disagree	53	22.7	23.7	84.8
	Agree	25	10.7	11.2	96.0
	Strongly Agree	9	3.9	4.0	100.0
	Total	224	96.1	100.0	
Missing	99	9	3.9		
Total		233	100.0		

Physical Punishment teaches obedience

Physically punishment is helpful for children

		_	_		Cumulative
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Percent
Valid	Strongly Disagree	77	33.0	35.2	35.2
	Disagree	73	31.3	33.3	68.5
	Neither Agree, Nor Disagree	48	20.6	21.9	90.4
	Agree	17	7.3	7.8	98.2
	Strongly Agree	4	1.7	1.8	100.0
	Total	219	94.0	100.0	
Missing	99	14	6.0		
Total		233	100.0		

Physical punishment is harmful for childre?2*

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Strongly Agree	68	29.2	30.6	30.6
	Agree	79	33.9	35.6	66.2
	Neither Agree Nor Disagree	44	18.9	19.8	86.0
	Disagree	17	7.3	7.7	93.7
	Strongly Disagree	14	6.0	6.3	100.0
	Total	222	95.3	100.0	
Missing	99	11	4.7		

		_			Cumulative
	_	Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Percent
Valid	Strongly Agree	68	29.2	30.6	30.6
	Agree	79	33.9	35.6	66.2
	Neither Agree Nor Disagree	44	18.9	19.8	86.0
	Disagree	17	7.3	7.7	93.7
	Strongly Disagree	14	6.0	6.3	100.0
	Total	222	95.3	100.0	
Missing	99	11	4.7		
Total		233	100.0		

Physical punishment is harmful for childre?2*

It is abusive to use physical punishment on a child?2 *

		-			Cumulative
	-	Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Percent
Valid	Strongly Agree	56	24.0	25.5	25.5
	Agree	63	27.0	28.6	54.1
	Neither Agree Nor Disagree	42	18.0	19.1	73.2
	Disagree	35	15.0	15.9	89.1
	Strongly Disagree	24	10.3	10.9	100.0
	Total	220	94.4	100.0	
Missing	99	13	5.6		
Total		233	100.0		

Physical Punishment is a proper childrearing technique

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Strongly Disagree	79	33.9	36.1	36.1
	Disagree	79	33.9	36.1	72.1
	Neither Agree, Nor Disagree	36	15.5	16.4	88.6
	Agree	23	9.9	10.5	99.1
	Strongly Agree	2	.9	.9	100.0
	Total	219	94.0	100.0	
Missing	99	14	6.0		

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Strongly Disagree	79	33.9	36.1	36.1
	Disagree	79	33.9	36.1	72.1
	Neither Agree, Nor Disagree	36	15.5	16.4	88.6
	Agree	23	9.9	10.5	99.1
	Strongly Agree	2	.9	.9	100.0
	Total	219	94.0	100.0	
Missing	99	14	6.0		
Total		233	100.0		

Physical Punishment is a proper childrearing technique

Verbal abuse is a proper childrearing technique

					Cumulative
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Percent
Valid	Strongly Disagree	89	38.2	40.3	40.3
	Disagree	89	38.2	40.3	80.5
	Neither Agree, Nor Disagree	20	8.6	9.0	89.6
	Agree	13	5.6	5.9	95.5
	Strongly Agree	10	4.3	4.5	100.0
	Total	221	94.8	100.0	
Missing	99	12	5.2		
Total		233	100.0		

APPENDIX C: SURVEY QUESTIONNAIRE

 Are you male or female? ☐ Male ☐ Female 				
2. Age				
3. How many child/ren do you have?	?	_		
4. How old is your child/ren? $\Box 0-5 \qquad \Box 6-10$	11-15	□ 16-2	20	□ 21
5. What is your current marital status	s?			
□ Married (number of years	_)	Divorced/separate	d 🗆 Widowed	
6. Were you born as a US citizen? \Box ye	es 🗆 no	(if yes, skip to questi	on #9)	
7. If you are not born as a U.S. citizen,	what is y	our country of origin?		
8. How long have you lived in the US?_		years		
9. What is your ethnicity?				
10. What is your home city?				
 11. What is your annual household ind □ Less than \$9,999 □ \$10,00-19,999 □ \$40,000-49,999 □ \$50,000-74,9 □ \$200,000 or more 	9			
12. What is your educational level? □ University □ High school		Middle school	□ Elementary school	
13. Did you attend and/or graduate from If not, skip this question.	om one o	of these school? If ye	es, mark all that apply.	
□ Religious studies (University)				
□ Islamic Divinity Students High Scho	ool			
Public Qur'an courses				

□ Religious private tutoring (regular meetings with observant Muslims to learn about Islamic theology and practice)

□ Other____

14. How religious do you consider yourself?□ Not religious at all□Somewhat religious□Very religious							
12. How ofter	12. How often do you pray (Salat)?						
\Box Five times a	a day 🗆 Mor	The than once a day \Box At l	east once a day				
\Box More than o	once a week	□ About once a week	□Only religious days				
□ Never							
15. How ofter	n do you read tl	he Qur'an?					
\Box More than o	once a day	□ At least once a day	\Box More than once a week				
□ About once	a week	Only religious days	□ Never				
16. How ofter	n do you lie?						
□ Several tim	es a day	□ At least once a day	\Box Several times a week				
□ At least onc	ce a week	□ Never					
17. How ofter	n were you phy	sically punished as a child?					
□ Always	□ Frequently	□ Sometimes □Rarely	□Never				
18. How ofter	n were you verl	cally punished as a child?					
□ Always	□ Frequently	\Box Sometimes \Box Rarely	□ Never				
19. In general	, how severe w	as the physical punishment year	ou received as a child?				
□ Mild	□ Moderate		□ Very severe				
20. How ofter	n do you sacrifi	ce personal time for your chil	d/ren's routine?				
□ Always	□ Frequently	\Box Sometimes \Box Rarely	□ Never				
21. How ofter	21. How often do your child/ren give you pleasure and enjoyment?						
\Box Always \Box Frequently \Box Sometimes \Box Rarely \Box Never							
22. How often do you and your child/ren play with each other?							
	□ Frequently	□ Sometimes □ Rarely	□ Never				
23. How often do you express affection by hugging, kissing, and holding your child/ren?							

□ Always	□ Frequently	□ Sometimes	\Box Rarely	□ Never

- 24. When your child/ren asks you a question, what fraction of the time do you feel like answering it in an enthusiastic and interested way, rather than feeling irritated that your child/ren is bothering you?
- \Box Always \Box Frequently \Box Sometimes \Box Rarely \Box Never
- 25. How often during the last month have you argued over which clothes to wear with your child/ren?

 \Box Always \Box Frequently \Box Sometimes \Box Rarely \Box Never

26. What kind of discipline do you use when your child/ren misbehaves? (Mark all that apply)

□Send to room □Take away privileges □Explain what your child did wrong

□Yell or shout □Other_____

YOUR CURRENT OPINON OF PHYSICAL PUNISHMENT

TO WHAT EXTENT DO YOU AGREE WITH THE FOLLOWING STATEMENTS?

27. Parent should have the right to physically punish their children.

Strongly		Neither Agree		Strongly	
Disagree	Disagree	Nor Disagree	Agree	Agree	

28. Physical punishment teaches obedience.

Strongly		Neither Agree	Neither Agree		
Disagree	Disagree	Nor Disagree	Agree	Agree	

29. My parents used physical punishment and I turned out fine. If not applicable, skip this question.

Strongly		Neither Agree		Strongly
Disagree	Disagree	Nor Disagree	Agree	Agree

30. Physically punishment is helpful for children.

Strongly		Neither agree		Strongly
Disagree	Disagree	Nor disagree	Agree	Agree

31. Physical punishment is harmful for children.

Strongly		Neither Agree		Strongly
Disagree	Disagree	Nor disagree	Agree	Agree

32. Physical punishment is a proper childrearing technique.

Strongly		Neither Agree		Strongly
Disagree	Disagree	Nor Disagree	Agree	Agree

33. It is abusive to use physical punishment on a child.

Strongly		Neither Agree	Neither Agree		
Disagree	Disagree	Nor Disagree	Agree	Agree	

34. Verbal abuse is a proper childrearing technique.

Strongly		Neither Agree		Strongly
Disagree	Disagree	Nor Disagree 65	Agree	Agree

- 35. In your opinion, does Islam allow a parent to slap a child under some conditions?
- \Box Yes \Box No
- 36. In your opinion, does Islam allow spanking child/ren for misbehavior?
- \Box Yes \Box No
- 37. In your opinion, does Islam allow cursing (beddua)?
- \Box Yes \Box No
- 38. Teaching my child/ren about Islamic theology and practice is one of my top priorities as a parent.
- \Box Yes \Box No
- 39. I raise my child/ren (mark all that apply)
- \Box to continue the family name and my lineage so that I am remembered after I die.
- \Box to please God.
- \Box to be good Muslims.
- $\hfill\square$ to take care of me physically and financially when I am old.
- \Box So that I am not alone in life.
- □ Others_____

APPENDIX D: IRB APPROVAL LETTER



EXPLANATION OF RESEARCH

Title of Project Exploring Theology and Practice in Islamic Parenting

Principal Investigator: Mergin Akin, MA Candidate

Faculty Supervisor: Fernando Rivera, Ph.D.

You are being invited to take part in a research study. Whether you take part is up to you.

- The purpose of this study is to explore Muslims' parenting styles and determine how
 factors such as culture, religion, education and income influence their parenting styles.
- You are being invited to participate in a survey by the researcher, Mergin Akin. The
 questions will ask your practical parent-child relationships like child discipline methods,
 and influential factors of parenting styles such as income, education, religion,
 background, ethnicity and perception on Islamic parenting. I will conduct the research in
 Turkish Cultural Centers (Orlando, Tampa, Jacksonville, Tallahassee, Miami), and
 Mosques (Masjid Al-Malik (University Mosque) and Islamic Society of Central Florida)
 in Orlando.
- The survey will take approximately between 5 or 10 minutes for each person.

You must be 18 years of age or older to take part in this research study. There are no expected risks to you for participating in this study. However, some people become anxious or upset when answering questions about behaviors, beliefs and well being. If you believe you need counseling, please contact the UCF Counseling Center; http://counseling.sdes.ucf.edu/. To make an appointment: (407) \$23-2811 or Email counctr@mail.ucf.edu

Study contact for questions about the study or to report a problem: If you have questions, concerns, or complaints talk to Mergin Akin, Graduate Student, Department of Sociology, College of Sciences, Howard Phillips Hall, Orlando, FL, 32816, Phone (850) 345-1094 or by email <u>merginakin@knights.ucf.edu</u>

IRB contact about your rights in the study or to report a complaint: Research at the University of Central Florida involving human participants is carried out under the oversight of the institutional Review Board (UCF IRB). This research has been reviewed and approved by the IRB. For information about the rights of people who take part in research, please contact: Institutional Review Board, University of Central Florida, Office of Research & Commercialization, 12201 Research Parkway, Sule 501, Orlando, FL 32826-3246 or by telephone at (407) 823-2901.

1 of 1

University of Central Florida IRB IRB NUMBER: SBE-11-08113 IRB APPROVAL DATE: 1/17/2012

REFERENCES

Asimgil, Sevim. 2004. Benim Musluman Yavrum. Istanbul. Turkey: Timas Yayinlari.

Aycicegi-Dinn, Ayse and Cigdem Kagitcibasi. 2010. "The Value of Children for Parents in the

Minds of Emerging Adults." Cross-Cultural Research 44(2):174-205.

Balci, Ramazan. 2010. Resulullah Kizlarini Nasil Yetistirdi. Istanbul: Nesil Yayinlari.

Baumrind, D. 1966. "Effects of authoritative parental control on child behavior." *Child Development* 37: 857-907.

Baumrind, D. 1968." Authoritarian vs. authoritative parental control." Adolescence 3: 255-272.

- Baumrind, D. 1971." Current patterns of parental authority." *Developmental Psychology Monographs 4:* 1-102.
- Beshir, Ekram and Mohamed Rida. 2004. Parenting Skills. USA: Amana Publications.

Brown, Lola and Shrinidhi Iyengar. 2010. "Parenting Styles: The Impact on Student

Achievement." Marriage & Family Review. 43(1):14-38.

- Canan, Ibrahim. 2010. *Allah'in Cocuklara Verdigi Haklar. Haksiz Degilim*. Istanbul: Gul Yurdu Yayinlari.
- Castelli, Maria. 2009. Culture and Discipline: Perceptions of Appropriate Use of Corporal Punishment. San Diego: Alliant International University.

Celegen, Nuriye. 2009. Peygamberimiz Genclere Nasil Davranirdi. Istanbul: Rehber Yayinlari.

Celegen, Nuriye. 2011. Peygamberimiz Nasil Bir Babaydi. Istanbul: Nesil Yayinlari

Celegen, Nuriye. 2011. Peygamberimiz Cocuklara Nasil Davranirdi. Istanbul: Nesil Yayinlari.

Celik, Esen. 2011. *Being a Muslim: Inner Peace via Submission*. Charlestan: CreateSpace Independent Publishing Platform.

Demir, Gozde Ozdikmenli, and Melike Sayil. 2009. "Individualism-Collectivism and

Conceptualizations of Interpersonal Relationships Among Turkish Children and Their Mothers." *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships* 26(4):371-387.

Dwairy, Marwan and Mustafa Achoui, 2006. "Introduction to Three Cross Regional Research Studies on Parenting Styles, Individuation, and Mental Health in Arab Societies." *Journal* of Cross-Cultural Psycology 37:221.

Dwairy, Marwan Adeeb. 2008. "Parental Inconsistency versus Parental Authoritarianism:

Associations with Symptoms of Psychological Disorders." *J. Youth Adolescence* 37:616-626.

Erkman, Fatos, and Ronald P. Rohner. 2006. "Youths Perceptions of Corporal Punishment, Parental Acceptance, and Psychological Adjustment in a Turkish Metropolis." *Cross-Cultural Research* 40(3):250-267. Erkal, Sibel, Zeynep Copur, Nuri Dogan, and Sukran Safak. 2007. "Examining the Relationship Between Parents' Gender Roles and Responsibilities Towards Their Children." *Social Behavior and Responsibility* 35(9):1221-1234.

Erozkan, Atilgan. 2009. "Rejection Sensitivity Levels with Respect to Attachment Styles, Gender, and Parenting Styles: A Study with Turkish Students." *Social Behavior and Personality* 37(1):1-14

Esposito, John L., and Natana J. DeLong-Bas. 2001. Women in Muslim Family Law. Syracuse,

NY: Syracuse University Press.

Gershoff, Elizabeth Thompson. 2002. "Corporal Punishment, Physical Abuse, and the Burden of Proof: Reply to Baumrind, Larzelere, and Cowan (2002), Holden (2002), and Parke (2002)".*Psychological Bulletin* 128(4): 602-611.

Gulcur, Musa K. 2009. Good Character; A Comprehensive Guide to Manners and Morals in

Islam. Somerset, New Jersey: Tughra.

Gulen, M. Fethullah. 1996. Prophet Muhammad; The Infinite Light. London: Truestar.

Gulen, M. Fethullah. 2002. Cekirdekten Cinara. Istanbul: Nil Yayinlari.

Gulen, M. Fethullah. 2006. "Human Beings and Their Nature," Discover Islam, January 07.

Hamid, Abdul A. 2003. Moral Teachings of Islam; Prophetic Traditions from al-Adab al-

mufrad by Imam al-Bukhari. Walnut Creek. Lanham, New York, Oxford: Rowman&Littlefield Publishers.

- Hortascu, Nuran. 2007. "Family-Versus Couple-Initiated Marriages in Turkey: Similarities and Differences over the Family Life Cycle." *Asian Journal of Social Psychology* 10:103-116.
- Hossain, Ziarat, and Jaipaul L. Roopnarine. 2005. "Mothers' and Fathers' Childcare Involvement with Young Children in Rural Families in Malaysia." *International Journal of Psychology* 40(6):385-394.

Jawad, Haifaa A. 1998. The Rights of Women in Islam. NY: ST. Martin's Press.

- Kagitcibasi, Cigdem, and Bilge Ataca. 2005. "Value of Children and Family Change: A Three
 Decade Portrait From Turkey." *Applied Psychology: An International Review* 54(3): 317-337.
- Kircaali-Iftar, Gonul. 2004. "How Do Turkish Mothers Discipline Children? An Analysis From a Behavioral Perspective." *Blackwell Publishing Ltd. Child: Care, Health & Development* 31(2):193-201.
- Krishnan, Uma D. 2004. "Parent-Adolescent Conflict and Adolescent Functioning in aCollectivist, Ethnicially Heterogeneous Cultrue: Malaysia." PhD dissertation, Department of Philosophy, The Ohio State University, Ohio.
- Mahoney, Annette. 2010. "Religion in Families, 1999-2009: A Relational Spiritually

Framework." Journal of Marriage and Family 72: 805-827.

- Marsh, Vernita Annetta. 1996. "Perseption of physical Abuse in African American and European American Subcultures." PhD dissertation. Michigan State University.
- Onder, Alev, and Hulya Gulay. 2009. "Reliability and Validity of Parenting Styles&Dimensions Questionnaire." *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences* 1:508-514.
- Orhon, Filiz Simsek, Betul Ulukol, Bahar Bingoler, and Sevgi Baskan Gulnar. 2006. "Attitudes of Turkish Parents, Pediatric Residents, and Medical Students Toward Child Disciplinary Practices." *Child Abuse & Neglect* 30:1081-1092.
- Ozgun, Ozkan, and Alice Sterling Honig. 2004. "Parental Involvement and Spousal Satisfaction with Division of Early Childcare in Turkish Families with Normal Children and Children with Special Needs." *Early Child Development and Care* 175(3):259-270.
- Saktanber, Ayse. 2002. Living Islam; Women, Religion and the Politicization of Culture in

Turkey. London, NY: I.B. Tauris Publishers.

Schlifer, Aliah. 1996. Motherhood in Islam. Kentucky, USA: The Islamic Texts Society.

Simons, Leslie Gordon, and Rand D. Conger. 2007. "Linking Mother-Father Differences in

Parenting to a Typology of Family Parenting Styles and Adolescent Outcomes." *Journal of Family Issue* 28(2):212-241.

Straus, Murray A. and Vera E. Mouradian. 1998. "Impulsive Corporal Punishment by Mothers

and Antisocial Behavior and Impulsiveness of Children." *Behavioral Science and the Law* 16:353-374

Takeuchi, May M., and Alexander Takeuchi. 2010. "Authoritarian Versus Authoritative Parenting Styles: Application of the Cost Equalization Principle." Marriage&Family Review. 44(4):489-510.

Tarazi, Norma. 1995. The Child in Islam. Plainfield, Indiana: American Trust Publications.

- The Pew Forum on Religion & Public Life. 2009. "Mapping the Global Muslim Population: A Report on the Size and Distribution of the World's Muslim Population."
- Turkel, Yesim Deniz, and Esin Tezer. 2008. "Parenting Styles and Learned Resourcefulness of Turkish Adolescents." *Adolescence* 43(169):143-152.
- Turla, Ahmet, Cihad Dundar, and Caglar Ozkanli. 2010. "Prevalence of Childhood Physical Abuse in a Representative Sample of College Students in Samsun, Turkey." *Journal of Interpersonal Violence* 25(7):1298-1308.

Unal, Ali. 2006. The meaning of Islam in a General Sense. Discover Islam, February 07

Uslu, Runa Idil, Emine Gul Kapci, Revan Yildirim, and Esra Oney. 2010. "Sociodemographic

Characteristic of Turkish Parent in Relation to Their Recognition of Emotional Maltreatment." *Child Abuse & Neglect* 34:345-353.

Yaman, Ayse, Judi Mesman, Marinus H. van IJzendoorn, Marian J. Bakermans-Kranenburg, and

Marielle Linting. 2010. "Parenting in an Individualistic Culture with a Collectivistic Cultural Background: The Case of Turkish Immigrant Families with Toddlers in the Netherlands." *J. Child Family Study* 19:617-628.